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SUMMARY

A review of the archaeological evidence for the location of the former Saxon minster
at Crediton, Devon was undertaken to inform the interpretation of a geophysical
survey carried out as part of the Search for Saxon Crediton project. This survey
investigated an area of approximately 2.8 hectares, centred on the Church of the Holy
Cross. The review studied all interventions undertaken within the area. No physical
evidence for the minster was identified. The study has, however, established the
presence of significant features that are not considered to be associated with the

Saxon church, but which may be identified by the geophysical survey.




1. INTRODUCTION

This report has been prepared by Exeter Archaeology (EA) to review the
archacological evidence for the location of the former Saxon minster in Crediton,
Devon, The review has been undertaken for Crediton Parochial Church Council in
order to inform the interpretation of a geophysical survey undertaken by GSB
Prospection as part of the Search for Saxon Crediton project.

An Anglo-Saxon monastery was probably established probably on or near the site of
the later parish church in the 8th century, and between ¢. 909 and 1050 Crediton
Minster was the seat of the Bishop of Devon and Cornwall. In the medieval period
Crediton church was served by a college of priests.

A discussion of the available documentary evidence for the location of the former
minster and associated buildings was produced by Devon County Council in 1986."
The location of the Saxon church at Crediton has never been definitely established
and has been the subject of much antiquarian speculation. Leland, writing in the
1540s, states authoritatively that the site of the cathedral church "is now occupied
with buildings of houses by the new Church yarde side” (Smith 1964). A modern
author suggests that the minster lay under the east end of the present church and
projected under buildings on the east side of the churchyard and the road, now
Church Lane, formerly Palace Road (Montague 1940-1). There is also a tradition
that the Lady Chapel may lie over the site of the early church (King 1878). There
does not appear to be any firm evidence for these statements and it must be concluded
that the Saxon church probably lay adjacent to or under part of the present church.
As far as is known, gravedigging in the churchyard has not provided any evidence of
the foundations of the cathedral.

One other site which has been suggested is that of Newcombes Meadow, to the north-
west of the modern church and close to the traditional site of St Boniface Well,
perhaps the reason for this suggested location. This meadow has apparently been
trenched for drainage during this century with nothing found (Montague op. cit).
This site seems unlikely.

1.1 The site :

The geophysical survey area covers an area of approximately 2.8 hectares (SS 8365
0027; Fig. 1), situated on land surrounding the Church of the Holy Cross. The site is
bounded on the west by Church Street, to the north by Belle Parade, and to the south
by Union Road and East Street. The eastern boundary extends beyond Church Lane,
to include the Boniface Centre, the open area to the west and north-west of the milk
factory, and land between 35 and 39 Meadow Gardens.

! Weddell 1986.




1.2 Method
The review has identified all archaeological interventions undertaken within the
geophysical study area; all but the first undertaken by EA (formerly Exeter Museums
Archaeological Field Unit). These investigations (Fig. 1) include the:

e 1977 trial trench in the church car park (Devon Committee for Rescue
Archaeology);
1984 excavations at the Vicarage (EA project reference 408);
1986 excavation at the Boniface Centre (409);
1991 excavations within the churchyard and vicarage grounds (2300);
1999 watching brief at Palace Cottage (3211); and
1999 watching brief at Glebe House (3777).

All archaeological interventions undertaken in close proximity to the geophysical
study area have also been identified, and include the:
e 2002 watching brief at Church Street/Union Road (4401);
2002 evaluation at Hayward’s School (4398);
2004 watching brief at the Fire Station site, Charlotte Street (5128);
2005 trench evaluation at 35 East Street (5552); and
2007 excavation at 35 East Street (5985).

* & & B

A study of both reported results and primary site archives has been undertaken in
order to identify any archaeological features that may be associated with the former
minster. The study has also identified those features that may be indicated by the
geophysical survey, but which are considered not to be associated with the Saxon
building.

A study of available cartographic sources has also been undertaken with the same
aims.

2. SUMMARY RESULTS

No archaeological features or deposits exposed during previous investigations within
the survey area are comsidered to be associated with the former minster. The
following presents summary results for each intervention, and indicates significant
features that may be identified by the geophysical survey. The depths at which
significant features have been exposed is given in metres AOD, and depths below
ground surface at the time of excavation, where recorded.

2.1 1977 trial trench in the church car park (Fig. 1)

No evidence for remains associated with the minster was exposed within a limited
intervention, and no significant features were uncovered that may be identified by the
geophysical survey.
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2.2 1984 excavations at the Vicarage (SS 8362 0035: Figs 1 and 2)?

A trench evaluation was undertaken in 1984 in advance of the construction of the new
vicarage. A subsequent archaeological watching brief was maintained during the
excavation of a north-south aligned sewer trench.

The excavations on the position of the new vicarage revealed a shallow gulley at a
depth of 0.6m (56.7m AOD). This was interpreted as the foundation trench for a
timber-built building of Saxo-Norman date, and is not considered to be materially
associated with the minster. A short section of medieval ditch was also exposed,
aligned approximately NNW-SSE, at 0.6m below the ground surface (55.7m AOD).

The cut for a north-south aligned sewer of post-medieval date was exposed on the
western side of the excavation. This barrel sewer, exposed eatlier to the south during
garden excavations, was not uncovered.

A stone-lined pit interpreted as a garderobe or latrine, possibly an internal feature
within the former collegiate buildings, was also uncovered within the sewer trench at
a depth of approximately 1m (¢. 54m AOD). The sewer trench excavation also
revealed the diverted, and subsequently culverted, course of a stream running east-
west across the southern edge of the vicarage grounds, at depth of between 0.75m and
1.5m (54.2m-53.45m AOQOD). This stream, formally known as the Litterbumn,
originally divided the vicarage grounds from the churchyard, before the latter was
extended in the 19th century to take in the area of the demolished collegiate buildings.

An east-west section of tunnelled post-medieval barrel sewer was exposed at the
southern end of the sewer trench at a depth of 1.2m (53.3m AOD).

2.3 1986 excavation at the Boniface Centre (SS 8368 0021: Figs. 1 and 3)

In 1986, an excavation was undertaken on the site of the new church hall, now known
as the Boniface Centre. This work identified several phases of domestic occupation,
dating from the 13th century until its abandonment as a domestic site in the early part
of this century, The remains, in the form of wall footings, drains and surfaces, were
situated at depths of 1m-1.75m (55m and 55.75m AOD).

The earliest activity was represented by an east-west orientated boundary ditch at the
north end of the site, exposed at a depth of ¢. Im (55.3m AOD). Potiery from the
infill of the ditch indicated that it went out of use after 1500. A continuation of this
ditch was exposed to the east during recent investigations at 35 East Street (see
section 2.10 below).

2.4 1991 excavations within the church car park (SS 8363 0028: Figs 1 and 2)°

Fxcavations were undertaken in 1991 on the line of a pipeline running east-west
across the church car park. This work located the remains of the medieval collegiate
buildings, with walls, drains and cobbled surfaces dating from the 13th to the 19th
century situated at 53.2-54m AOD. A further length of the culverted stream noted in
1984 was exposed at ¢. 54m AOD, with evidence of successive rebuilding from the
medieval o the post-medieval period. The pipeline continued to the east into the
dairy and supermarket premises. Evidence of stream deposits was seen just to the east

? Henderson and Weddell 1985
? Exeter Archaeology forthcoming
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of the car park but the stream itself appears to have turned north before the boundary
with the supermarket.

NB Although the 1889 OS map (Fig.7) indicates the position of St. Gregory’s
Cathedral in this area, there is, as yet, no evidence to support this.

2.5 1999 watching brief at Palace Cottage (SS 8365 0040: Fig. 1)*
A watching brief during shallow excavations for a new driveway and garden wall
exposed no significant archaeological features.

2.6 1999 watching brief at Glebe House (SS 8362 0038: Fig. 1)°
A watching brief during the excavation of a foundation trench east of Glebe house
identified no archaeological features, probably due to the minimal area exposed.

2.7 2002 watching brief at Church Street/Union Road (SS 8356 0020: Fig. 1)°

A watching brief was maintained during the water system rehabilitation works within
the town. This monitored the excavations at the junction of Union Road and Church
Street, situated on the southwest comner of the churchyard. These opened an area
measuring approximately 5.5m x 1.85m, and 1.3m deep. No archacological features
survived extensive disturbance from earlier service provision.

2.8 2002 evaluation at Hayward’s Schoel (SS 8372 0006: Fig. 1)

A trench evaluation was undertaken on the site of the new teaching block at
Hayward’s School to the south of the survey area in 2002. Part of a building of
14th/15th-century date was uncovered, with some evidence for industrial activity
associated with metalworking.

29 20_!04 watching brief at the Fire Station site, Charlotte Street (SS 8378 0007:
Fig. 1)

An archaeological watching brief was undertaken during groundworks in advance of
the construction of the new fire station off Charlotte Street, to the south-west of the
survey area. A number of walls were identified, all considered to be of post-medieval
date.

2.10 2005 evaluation at 35 East Street (SS 8372 0016: Figs ! and 3)®

A ftrench evaluation undertaken in 2005 exposed medieval and post-medieval
boundary features, and remains associated with late medieval cauldron production.
This evidence resulted in the excavations of this area this year (see section 2.11
below)

2.11 2007 excavation at 35 East Street (SS 8372 0016: Figs 1 and 3y

An east-west aligned, 0.6m deep, boundary ditch was exposed at a depth of 0.75m
(52.2m AOD) just within the northern edge of the site, and represents a continuation
of the ditch exposed in the Boniface Centre site in 1986. This was created in the
medieval period, after the 11th century, and went out of use by the 14th or 15th
century. This was replaced by a further ditch, which was deliberately infilled ¢. 1700.

* Manning 1999

? Freeman 1991

5 Bell 2002

7 Pearce 2004

# Passmore 2006

? Passmore forthcoming




The site was used for the production of bronze cauldrons during the later 15th or early
16th century. Pits used to quarry clay, and later infilled with fired production waste
were exposed at ¢. 52m AOD. A small feature, interpreted in advance of specialist
analysis as a furnace base, was also identified at approximately the same depth.

3. DISCUSSION

While no indication of the former minster has been identified, it should be noted that
the interventions undertaken to date represent a relatively small proportion of the
geophysical survey area. The evidence from these investigations can, however, be
used to indicate the date and probable function of a number of features that may be
identified by the survey.

3.1 The medieval/post-medieval culvert

This feature has been exposed within the church car park at c. 54m AOD, and
utilising available map evidence, its route across the survey area can be suggested
with some confidence. The course of the open stream along the northem boundary of
the churchyard is shown on a copy of the 1598 Norden survey of Crediton (Fig.4).
The 1836 plan of the collegiate buildings (shown in part on Fig. 2) depicts an open
watercourse across the eastern half of the churchyard. By the time of the production
of the tithe map in 1841 (Fig. 6) the stream has been enclosed across the area that
became the car park by that date, and an open stream flowing from the eastern end.
The sinuous north-western boundary to the milk factory corresponds with the route of
this stream, and almost certainly demarcates the line of the watercourse, subsequently
culverted along its full length within this part of the town.

3.2 The cauldron production site and associated industry

Quarry pits filled with industrial waste, and a small probable furnace, both associated
with the production of cauldrons, have been identified immediately alongside the
south-east corner of the survey area at c. 52m AOD. Further industrial features that
might have been expected have not been identified however, and these may still
survive in close proximity. While no evidence was exposed within the Boniface
Centre excavations, an uninvestigated area, which possibly equates to a former
medieval burgage plot, divides the two interventions. This area has the potential to
contain associated industrial features.

There is a recognised link between cauldron production and bell founding. No
evidence of deposits associated with bell founding have been identified in advance of
specialist attention, but the possibility that this relatively large-scale activity also took
place nearby should be considered.

3.3 Collegiate buildings

Remains of the collegiate church buildings survive in the area of the church car park.
Wall footings, drains and surfaces were exposed at 53.2m-54m AOD, and extend
beyond the area excavated in 1991. The gardrobe exposed during the 1984 watching
brief is probably associated, and indicates the survival of buildings of this date to the
north.

Map evidence shows that buildings survive in the area until at least 1841 (Fig. 6),
although a number of these are likely to be post-medieval in date. The 1836 plan
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(Fig. 2) provides a detailed impression of the buildings at the time. Excavation
suggests that significant remains survive.

3.4 Medieval ditches
A short section of medieval ditch was exposed beneath the current vicarage at 55.7m
AOD. This was aligned approximately NNW-SSE.

A further section of medieval boundary has been exposed on the north side of the
Boniface Centre (¢. 55m AOD, and again, downslope, at the rear of the garden to 35
East Street next door (52.2m AOD). This boundary feature, redefined in the post-
medieval period, is expected to extend beyond these properties to both east and west.

3.5 19th-cenfury barrel sewers

Two sections of 19th-century sewer have been identified, one section, aligned north-
south, immediately to the west of the present vicarage (depth not known), the other,
aligned east-west, within the church car park to the south of the culvert. This had
been tunnelled, with the top of the feature at 53.3m AOD,

3.6 Medieval and post-medieval housing

Remains of medial housing have been identified beneath the Boniface Centre at 55m-
55.75m AOD. These appear to correspond with buildings shown on the 1598 Norden
survey (Fig. 4), numbered 1 and 2 East Street.

3.7 Other buildings

In addition to the two buildings beneath the Boniface Centre, the copy of the Norden
survey (Fig. 4) also shows a number of others within the geophysical survey area at
the end of the 16th century. One is depicted within its own grounds at the north-west
corner of the churchyard, to the south of the stream. Remains of this building may
have been seen in the 1991 excavations in this area. Further buildings, presumably
part of the collegiate facilities, are shown on the north side of the watercourse.

Buildings and garden plots are present in some numbers in what will become the
southern end of the churchyard. What may be a single building of some length
extends along the western side of the road approaching the church. A lichgate is
depicted at the end of this road, as it turns to the west.

Buildings in these positions, although not the lichgate, are depicted again in 1837
(Fig. 5), prior to the creation of Union Road, and buildings still front the corner of
Church Lane and East Street in the 1880s (Fig.7). The 1837 map also shows a
number of buildings, in four ranges, to the north of the church in the area of the
former college. Sub-surface archaeological remains should be expected within both
areas.
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Fig. 4 Extract from the copy of the 1598 Norden survey of Crediton (not to scale).




Fig. 5 Extract from an 1837 map showing thoroughfares between Downes and Crediton (not to scale).




Fig. 6 Exiract from the 1841 Crediton Tithe Map (not to scale).
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